
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

 

CASE NO. 14-CV-20273-WPD 

REBECCA CARBONELL, f/k/a REBECCA 
PLUT, individually,  

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

WEINSTEIN PINSON & RILEY, P.S. and 
ANTHONY D. COLUNGA, 

Defendants. 
/ 

 

 
ORDER GRANTING PLAINTIFF'S  

MOTION FOR JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS  

THIS CAUSE came on before the Court upon Plaintiff REBECCA CARBONELL, f/k/a 

REBECCA PLUT's Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings [DE 15], filed herein on April 22, 

2014.  The Court has carefully considered the Motion, Defendants, WEINSTEIN PINSON & 

RILEY, P.S. and ANTHONY D. COLUNGA’s Response [DE 18], Plaintiff’s Reply [DE 19], 

and is otherwise fully advised in the premises. 

I.  BACKGROUND 
 

This action arises from state court law suits filed by Defendants against Plaintiff for an 

alleged default of a student loan. See [DE 1-2, 1-3].  Plaintiff’s one-count Complaint [DE 1] 

alleges that Defendants violated the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1692 et seq. 

(“FDCPA”).   

Plaintiff is a natural person and resident of Miami-Dade County, Florida. See Complaint 

[DE 1] at ¶ 5; Answer [DE 5] at ¶ 5.  Defendant Weinstein, Pinson, & Riley is a corporation and 

citizen of the State of Washington.  See [DE 1] at ¶ 6; [DE 5] at ¶ 6.  Defendant is a debt 
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collector who regularly collects or attempts to collect consumer debts for other persons. See [DE 

1] at ¶ 6; [DE 5] at ¶ 6. Defendant Anthony D. Colunga is a Florida licensed attorney and 

employee of Defendant Weinstein, Pinson, & Riley who signed the complaint initiating the 

lawsuit that is the basis of this action. See [DE 1] at ¶ 7; [DE 5] at ¶ 7.  Defendants regularly 

collect or attempt to collect consumer debts for other persons. See [DE 1] at ¶ 8; [DE 5] at ¶ 8.  

Defendants are “debt collectors” as defined by the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6). See [DE 1] at 

¶ 9; [DE 5] at ¶ 9.   

 Prior to the institution of this lawsuit, Plaintiff allegedly incurred financial obligations in 

connection with student loans. See [DE 1] at ¶ 10; [DE 5] at ¶ 10.  On November 27, 2013, the 

Defendants filed two complaints against the Plaintiff in Florida Circuit Court in Miami-Dade 

County, both complaints seeking monetary damages for alleged defaults on Plaintiff’s student 

loans. See [DE 1] at ¶¶ 12, 13; [DE 5] at ¶¶ 12, 13.     

Paragraph 11 of the state court complaints filed by Defendants state: 

Pursuant to the 11 U.S.C. §1692g(a) [sic] and §559.552 Fla. Stat., Defendant is 
informed that the undersigned law firm is acting on behalf of Plaintiff to collect 
the debt and that the debt referenced in this suit will be assumed valid and correct 
if not disputed in whole or in part within thirty (30) days from the date hereof. 
 

See [DE 1-2] at p. 8; [DE 1-3] at p. 8.  

Plaintiff alleges that paragraph 11 of the state court complaints filed by Defendants 

violated § 1692e of the FDCPA, which states that a debt collector “may not use any false, 

deceptive, or misleading representation or means in connection with the collection of any debt.”  

See [DE 1] at ¶¶ 17-18.  Defendants deny that Defendants’ allegations in paragraph 11 of the 

state court complaints are deceptive to the least sophisticated consumer. See [DE 5] at ¶¶ 17-18.    

Defendants’ Answer [DE 5] fails to allege any affirmative defenses.  Rather, Defendants 

assert as its first affirmative defense: 
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The Complaint fails to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. 
Specifically, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e requires a “false, deceptive, or misleading 
representation[.]” Nothing contained within the Underlying Complaints is false, 
deceptive, or misleading as a matter of law. To the contrary, the disputed 
statements contained in the Underlying Complaints are truthful and accurate. 

 
See [DE 5] at p. 3.  This “affirmative defense” is a denial.  A defense that simply points out a 

defect or lack of evidence in the plaintiff's case is not an affirmative defense.  In re Rawson Food 

Service, Inc., 846 F.2d 1343, 1349 (11th Cir. 1988); Vallesillo v. Remaca Truck Repairs, No. 09-

80714, 2009 WL 4807397, at *4 (S. D. Fla. Dec. 4, 2009).   

Defendants assert as their second affirmative defense: 

The Complaint does not describe the claims or facts alleged with sufficient 
particularity to permit Defendants to ascertain what other defenses may exist. 
Defendants will rely on any and all further defenses that become available or 
appear during discovery in this action and specifically reserves the right to amend 
this Answer for purposes of asserting such additional affirmative defenses.  
 

See [DE 5] at p. 3.  Absent the right to amend a pleading as a matter of course, amendment is a 

matter within the Court’s discretion.  See Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(a).  Most importantly, a reservation 

of rights clause is not an affirmative defense.  See Gonzalez v. Spears Holdings, Inc., 2009 WL 

2391233, *4 (S.D. Fla. July 31, 2009).   Accordingly, Defendants have effectively pled no 

affirmative defenses to Plaintiff’s Complaint.  Rather, Defendants have merely denied that the 

challenged language is deceptive or misleading to the least sophisticated consumer.     

II.  DISCUSSION 

a. Standard of Review - Judgment on the Pleadings 
 
 Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(c) provides that "[a]fter the pleadings are closed - but 

early enough not to delay trial - a party may move for judgment on the pleadings." Fed.R.Civ.P. 

12(c). In such a motion, the Court accepts all facts alleged in the complaint as true and makes all 

inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.  Hart v. Hodges, 587 F.3d 1288, 

1290 (11th Cir. 2009).  The Court may consider all of the pleadings, including the complaint, 
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answer, counterclaim, and answer to the counterclaim.  Fla. Evergreen Foliage v. E.I. DuPont de 

Nemours & Co., 165 F. Supp. 2d 1345, 1350 (S.D. Fla. 2001).  The Court may also consider 

documents attached to the complaint as part of the pleading itself, see Fed. R. Civ. P. 10(c), and 

may consider documents attached to the answer if they are central to the plaintiff's claim and 

undisputed, Horsley v. Feldt, 304 F.3d 1125, 1133-34 (11th Cir. 2002).  If there are no issues of 

material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law, then judgment on 

the pleadings should be granted.  Ortega v. Christian, 85 F.3d 1521, 1524 (11th Cir. 1996). 

b. Analysis 
 
Congress established the FDCPA to “eliminate abusive debt collection practices.” 15 

U.S.C. § 1692.  The FDCPA restricts communications from debt collectors to consumers in 

many different ways.  See e.g., 15 U.S.C. § 1692d (prohibiting harassing or abusive conduct in 

connection with the collection of a debt).  Notably, “[t]he FDCPA establishes a strict liability 

standard; a consumer need not show [an] intentional violation of the Act by a debt collector to be 

entitled to damages.” Castro v. A.R.S. Nat’l Servs., Inc., 2000 WL 264310, *2 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 8, 

2000) (citing Russell v. Equifax A.R.S., 74 F.3d 30, 33 (2nd Cir. 1996)).  A single violation of the 

Act is sufficient to subject a debt collector to liability under the Act.  Id.   

To satisfy the elements of a claim under the FDCPA, Plaintiff must demonstrate: (1) she has 

been the subjects of collection activity arising from a consumer debt; (2) the Defendants are debt 

collectors under the FDCPA; and (3) the Defendants engaged in an act or omission prohibited by 

the FDCPA. Sanz v. Fernandez, 633 F. Supp. 2d 1356, 1359 (S.D. Fla. 2009). Attorneys and law 

firms may be considered “debt collectors” as that term is defined by the FDCPA. Heintz v. 

Jenkins, 514 U.S. 291, 293-96 (1995). The first two elements are not in dispute. Thus, the 

remaining inquiry is whether the Defendants engaged in acts or omissions prohibited by the 

FDCPA.  
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Plaintiff argues in her motion for judgment on the pleadings that the allegations in 

paragraph 11 of Defendants’ state court complaints are deceptive to the least sophisticated 

consumer, and thereby violate 15 U.S.C. § 1692e of the FDCPA, which states: “[a] debt collector 

may not use any false, deceptive, or misleading representation or means in connection with the 

collection of any debt.” 15 U.S.C. § 1692e.   

 Defendants argue that the issue of whether the language of paragraph 11 violates § 1692e 

is premature at this time, because Defendants should be allowed to fully develop the record by 

conducting discovery, and that the Court should also consider letter(s) sent by Defendants to the 

Plaintiff prior to the filing of the state court complaint.  The Court disagrees.  It is not disputed 

that Defendants used the language at issue in paragraph 11 of the state court complaints.  The 

application of the least sophisticated consumer standard, see infra, to § 1692e is a question of 

law. Jeter v. Credit Bureau, 760 F.2d 1168, 1174-75 (11th Cir. 1985).  A single violation of the 

FDCPA is sufficient to subject Defendant to liability.  See 15 U.S.C. § 1692k; Castro, 2000 WL 

264310, at *2.  Accordingly, Plaintiff’s claim is ripe for a decision on the pleadings.  

When a court evaluates whether language is deceptive under the FDCPA, it applies an 

objective standard to the language=s tendency “‘to mislead the least sophisticated’” consumer, in 

order to give effect to the FDCPA’s purpose of protecting consumers.  Jeter, 760 F.2d at 1175  

(quoting Wright v. Credit Bureau of Ga., Inc., 548 F. Supp. 591, 599 (N.D. Ga. 1982)).  Courts 

may assume, however, that the least sophisticated consumer will “possess a rudimentary amount 

of information about the world@ and will not make Aunreasonable misinterpretations.” Rivera v. 

Amalgamated Debt Collection Servs., 462 F. Supp. 2d 1223, 1227 (S.D. Fla. 2006) (quotations 

omitted).  The “test has an objective component in that [w]hile protecting naïve consumers, the 

standard also prevents liability for bizarre or idiosyncratic interpretations of collection notices by 
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preserving a quotient of reasonableness.” In re Cheaves, 439 B.R. 220, 223-24 (Bankr. M.D. Fla. 

2010). 

Paragraph 11 of the state court complaints filed by Defendants states: 

Pursuant to the 11 U.S.C. §1692g(a) [sic] and §559.552 Fla. Stat., Defendant is 
informed that the undersigned law firm is acting on behalf of Plaintiff to collect 
the debt and that the debt referenced in this suit will be assumed valid and correct 
if not disputed in whole or in part within thirty (30) days from the date hereof. 
 

See [DE 1-2] at p. 8; [DE 1-3] at p. 8.   

Plaintiff argues that this language is misleading for three separate reasons: (1) the 30 day 

timeframe overshadows the 20 days specified in the summons; (2) a consumer could be deceived 

as to where he or she must file his dispute; and (3) it suggests that the debt will be “assumed 

valid and correct” as a matter of law if not disputed within 30 days.  Defendants argue that the 

challenged language is not deceptive to the least sophisticated consumer, and/or that the 

language was not material, and/or that Plaintiff was not in fact deceived by the language.   

 The Court disposes summarily of Defendants’ second and third arguments.  The language 

at issue in this case is alleged to directly misrepresent the Plaintiff’s rights in connection with 

active litigation.   What documents must be sent to what place and by what deadline must be 

complied with to avoid forfeiting legal rights is certainly material.  Additionally, whether 

Plaintiff was not in fact deceived is not the relevant inquiry; the Court must apply the objective 

least sophisticated consumer standard.  

 As to the remaining issue, that being the primary one of whether the challenged language 

tends to mislead the least sophisticated consumer, the Court agrees with Plaintiff.  The language 

would tend to confuse the least sophisticated consumer receiving the complaint about the 

timeframe required to respond, which may subject the consumer to a default being entered 

against her by the state court.  Moreover, despite the assertion in the language of paragraph 11 

that it is stated “[p]ursuant to the 11 U.S.C. §1692g(a) [sic], Defendants omit the “by the debt 
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collector” language of section 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(3).  This significant misstatement of the law, 

particularly where it is included in the state court complaint, would likely lead the least 

sophisticated consumer to believe that it is the state court who will assume the debt to be valid.   

This holding comports with other decisions in the Southern District of Florida that have 

analyzed virtually identical language in a complaint or attached to a complaint. See Lewis v. 

Marinosci Law Group, P.C., 2013 WL 5789183, at *3 (S.D. Fla. Oct. 29, 2013) (finding that a 

notice stating that the consumer must file a written response within 30 days is deceptive because 

it could “overshadow the time frame necessary to file a response with the Court as explained in 

the summons” and because it could result in the consumer filing a written response disputing the 

debt which the state court would deem an Answer, waiving many legal rights and defenses); 

Battle v. Gladstone Law Group, P.A., 2013 WL 3297552, at *4 (S.D. Fla. June 28, 2013) (“The 

‘least sophisticated consumer’ could be deceived or confused when the summons set out a 20–

day deadline to respond to the lawsuit and the attached notice provides for a 30–day deadline to 

request validation of the debt.”); Freire v. Aldridge Connors, LLC, 2014 WL 407357, at 4 (S.D. 

Fla. Feb. 4, 2014) (“By confusing the deadlines, or by disputing the debt and not responding to 

the complaint, a consumer may inadvertently waive valuable legal rights.”).   Inexplicably, 

despite Plaintiff’s reliance on these cases in its Motion, Defendants do not address any of these 

decisions in their opposition. See [DE 18].    

III.  CONCLUSION 

Based upon the foregoing, it is ORDERED AND ADJUDGED as follows: 

1. Plaintiff REBECCA CARBONELL, f/k/a REBECCA PLUT's Motion for 

Judgment on the Pleadings [DE 15] is hereby GRANTED; and 

2. Judgment as to liability is ENTERED against Defendants, WEINSTEIN 

PINSON & RILEY, P.S. and ANTHONY D. COLUNGA; 
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3. Within ten (10) days of the date of this Order, Plaintiff shall file a motion 

regarding the amount of damages sought, which may be referred to the magistrate 

judge. 

DONE AND ORDERED in Chambers at Ft. Lauderdale, Broward County, Florida this 

30th day of May, 2014.  

  

  

 

 

 

 

Copies to: 

Counsel of record 
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